BYLAWS

of

COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES ASSOCIATION (REGINA) LIMITED

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Interpretation:

"Act" means *The Co-operatives Act, 1996*, as amended, and in the case of any amendment, any reference in the Bylaws of the Co-operative shall be read as referring to the amended provisions;

"Articles" mean the Articles of Continuance of the Co-operative, as amended from time to time;

"Bylaws" mean these Bylaws and all amendments, additions, deletions, and replacements;

"Co-operative" means the Community Health Services Association (Regina) Limited, or its successors;

"Directors" and "Board" mean the Directors of the Co-operative;

"Executive Director" is an employee of the Co-operative appointed by the directors who has the responsibility to manage the affairs of the Co-operative under the direction of the Board of Directors as delegated from time to time;

"General meeting" means an annual general meeting or a special general meeting of Members;

"Member" means either

- (i) an individual who has been accepted by the Board for membership in the Association, or
- (ii) each of two (2) individuals who are spouses of each other and who have been accepted as parties to a joint membership in the Co-operative, as the context may require;

"Ministry of Health" means the body authorized to provide financial assistance and regulatory oversight to the Co-operative for the purpose of the delivery of primary health care services granted by the *Health Administration Act* in the Province of Saskatchewan;

"Ordinary resolution" means a resolution that has been passed by a majority of the Members who voted on the resolution;

"President" means the President of the Board;

"Registrar" means the registrar of co-operatives as defined in the Act;

"Secretary" means the Secretary of the Board;

"Special resolution" means, except where otherwise expressly provided in the Act, a resolution that has been passed by at least two-thirds (¾) of the Members who voted on the resolution where at least ten (10) days' notice has been given to the Members of the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution;

"Spouse" means either of two (2) individuals who

- (a) is legally married to the other; or
- (b) is cohabiting with the other individual as spouses continuously for a period of not less than two (2) years;

"Treasurer" means the Treasurer of the Board;

"Vice-President" means the Vice-President of the Board.

1.2 Meanings from the Act

All terms contained in the Bylaws and that are defined in the Act have the meanings given to those terms in the Act.

1.3 Gender

Pronouns importing the masculine or feminine or other binary gender terms are replaced by the pronouns: they, them, theirs.

1.4 Headings

The headings used in these Bylaws are inserted for reference only and are not to be considered in construing the meaning of the Bylaws or to be deemed in any way to clarify, modify, or explain the effect of any terms used in these Bylaws.

2. ADMINISTRATION

2.1 Objectives

The primary objective of the Co-operative shall be to promote a scheme of providing health and hospital services to its Members and their dependents on a mutual benefit plan.

2.2 Registered Office

The registered office of the Co-operative shall be located in the City of Regina in the Province of Saskatchewan.

2.3 Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Co-operative shall end on the 31st day of March in each year.

2.4 Contracts

(a) Contracts, documents, or instruments in writing requiring execution by the Co-operative shall

be signed on behalf of the Co-operative by the President and the Secretary or other officers designated from time to time by the Board.

(b) The Board is authorized to appoint, by resolution, any officer or officers, or any persons on behalf of the Co-operative either to sign contracts, documents, or instruments in writing generally or to sign specific contracts, documents or instruments in writing.

2.5 Borrowing Powers

The Co-operative has the borrowing powers specified in the Act.

2.6 Sale, Lease, or Exchange of Property

The sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Co-operative is governed by the provisions in the Act.

2.7 Insurance & Bonding

- (a) The Board shall see that appropriate insurance and bonding is in place to ensure every person appointed to an office touching the receipt, management or expenditure of money for the purposes of the Co-operative is covered.
- (b) In addition, any contractor brought in touching the receipt, management or expenditure of money for the purposes of the Co-operative and before entering upon the duties of offices, gives proof of security in the form of a fidelity bond in such amount as the directors deem necessary.

3. MEMBERSHIP

3.1 Membership Application Process

Any individual, or any two individuals as defined in "Member" of Section 1, may become a member of the Co-operative provided that

- (a) They are aged 18 or over,
- (b) they make written application to the Co-operative;
- (c) the application indicates whether the membership applied for is an individual membership or a joint membership; and
- (d) the application for membership is accompanied by the applicable membership fee.

3.2 Joint Membership

Joint memberships have the rights provided for in the Act.

3.3 Membership Fees and Annual charges

(a) On application for an individual or joint membership in the Co-operative, the following one-time membership fee shall be paid:

Individual Membership: \$10.00 Joint Membership: \$20.00

- (b) Upon becoming a member of the Co-operative, members may pay voluntary service fees ("service fees") to receive additional benefits.
- (c) Changes to Individual and Joint Membership Fees must be approved at an annual or special general meeting of the Co-operative.
- (d) For the purposes of the Bylaws, references to "Member" shall include reference to each of the two (2) individual parties to a joint membership where the context requires.

3.4 Board Approval of Applications

No membership is valid

- (a) unless the prospective Member has submitted a written application for membership on the form determined from time to time by the Board; and
- (b) until the Board has accepted the application for membership.

3.5 Responsibilities of Members

Members shall faithfully support and promote the Co-operative and its affairs and are bound by the Bylaws and policies of the Co-operative.

3.6 Membership Privileges

Membership in the Co-operative entitles a Member, including the parties to a joint membership, and their dependent children under the age of eighteen (18), to use the services of the Co-operative where and when available. Membership does not automatically provide access as a patient.

3.7 Voting (at Annual General or Other Membership Meetings)

- (a) Each individual Member is entitled to one vote.
- (b) Each Member in a joint membership is entitled to one vote.
- (c) No individual Member is entitled to vote by proxy.
- (d) No party to a joint membership is entitled to vote by proxy either through the other party to the joint membership or otherwise.

3.8 No Transfer of Membership

No membership is transferrable.

3.9 Withdrawal from Membership

(a) A Member may withdraw from membership by giving to the Secretary at least thirty (30)

days written notice of the intention to withdraw.

- (b) The Board, in its discretion, is entitled to accept a notice of intention to withdraw on fewer than thirty (30) days written notice.
- (c) Except as provided in (d), within thirty (30) days after the effective date of withdrawal, the Co-operative shall pay to the withdrawing Member any loan capital and other amounts held to the Member's credit which is not evidenced by a separate contractual obligation.
- (d) The Co-operative will not pay to a withdrawing Member any membership fees or assessments paid by the Member.
- (e) Except as provided in (f), notice of the death of a Member has the same force and effect as a notice of intention to withdraw.
- (f) Notice of the death of one of the parties to a joint membership transforms the joint membership into an individual membership for the surviving party to the joint membership.

3.10 Termination of a Membership

- (a) The Directors, by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the Directors present at a meeting called for the purpose, may order the termination of a Member from the Co-operative.
- (b) Within ten (10) days after the date on which the Directors order the termination of a membership, the Secretary shall give the Member written notice of the order and advise the Member of the rights of appeal as provided in (c).
- (c) Within thirty (30) days after receiving the notice mentioned in (b), the Member may appeal the order to the next general meeting by giving the Secretary written notice of intention to appeal.
- (d) At a general meeting where the appeal of an order of termination is considered, a majority of the Members present, and casting votes shall confirm or rescind the order.
- (e) Except as provided in (f), if the termination of a membership is ordered and confirmed in accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws, the Co-operative, within one (1) year after the date on which the termination order was made, shall pay the Member any loan capital and other amounts held to the Member's credit which are not evidenced by a separate contractual obligation.
- (f) The Co-operative will not pay to a Member whose membership has been terminated any membership fees or assessments paid by the Member.

4. MEETINGS

- 4.1 The Board of Directors has the authority to determine that Board meetings, the Annual General Meeting, or any other member meeting, subject to compliance with criteria in The Cooperatives Act, 1996, be held in a virtual (electronic) format.
 - (a) A member or any other person who is entitled to attend a meeting may participate in the meeting (including voting) to the same but to no greater extent than if personally present,

by means of telephone, electronic or other communication facility;

(b) Persons who lawfully participate in the meeting by one of the means described in (a) are deemed to be present at the meeting.

4.2 Annual General Meetings

The Co-operative shall hold an annual general meeting in each year not later than six (6) months after the end of the fiscal year of the Co-operative unless, as permitted by the Act, the Co-operative obtains the permission of the Registrar to hold the meeting at a later time.

4.3 Special General Meetings

- (a) The Directors may call a special general meeting at any time.
- (b) The Directors shall call a special general meeting on the receipt of a written request, if the written request came from at least five percent (5%) of the Members or three hundred (300) Members, whichever is less; and
- (c) specified the purpose of the meeting.
- (d) Within twenty (20) days after they receive a request for a special general meeting that meets the criteria in (b), the Directors shall call a special general meeting.

4.4 Member Lists

- (a) On payment of a reasonable fee and upon sending to the Co-operative an affidavit described in (b), any five (5) Members, their agents, or legal representatives may require the Cooperative to provide, within twenty-one (21) days after the receipt of the affidavit, a list made up to a day not more than one (1) month before the day of the receipt of the affidavit, setting out, in alphabetical or numeric order, the names of the Members and their latest contact information known to the Co-operative.
- (b) The affidavit mentioned in (a) must contain:
 - (i) the names and contact information of the applicants;
 - (ii) a declaration that the basic list and any supplemental list obtained will not be used for any purpose other than in connection with an effort
 - (A) to influence the voting of Members; or
 - (B) to make a written request pursuant to 4.2 to call a special general meeting.

4.5 Notice of Meeting

- (a) The Co-operative shall give at least ten (10) and not more than fifty (50) days written notice of every general meeting.
 - (i) By sending the notice by regular mail or electronic mail to each Member at their last address shown in the Co-operative's membership list; or

- (ii) By inserting the notice in not less than two (2) issues of a newspaper circulated in the area served by the co-operative and posting the notice in a place that, in the opinion of the directors, is prominent and accessible to members.
- (b) The notice of a general meeting shall specify the place, date, and hour of the general meeting.
- (c) The fact that a Member does not receive notice of a general meeting shall not invalidate the proceedings or the business transacted at the general meeting.
- (d) Notice of any special general meeting must specify the purpose for which the general meeting is being called.
- (e) It is not necessary to give Members notice of an adjourned general meeting if:
 - (i) the time and place of the adjourned general meeting are announced at the original general meeting; and
 - (ii) the general meeting is adjourned for fewer than thirty (30) days.
- (f) If a special resolution is to be considered at a general meeting
 - (i) the notice of the general meeting must contain the text of the special resolution; or
 - (ii) if the text of the special resolution is too long to be included in the notice, the notice must contain a statement in sufficient detail to permit the recipient to form a reasoned judgment about the special resolution and a statement that the full text of the special resolution is available by some other readily accessible means.

4.6 Record Date

The record date for determining Members who are entitled to receive notice of a general meeting is deemed to be at the close of business on the day immediately before the day on which the notice is distributed in accordance with 4.4(a)(i).

4.7 Quorum

Twenty (20) Members or ten (10%) per cent of the Members on the membership list on the record date described in 4.5, whichever is less, shall constitute a quorum at a general meeting. Where a quorum is present at the opening of a general meeting but does not continue to be present throughout the general meeting, the remaining Members present may continue to transact business after the quorum ceases to exist.

4.8 Agenda for Annual General Meetings

The agenda for the annual general meeting shall include:

- Establish Quorum
- Approval of Agenda
- Approval of Minutes
- Annual Report of the Board

- Annual Report of the Treasurer
- Auditor's Report
- Appointment of the Auditor
- Report of the Nominating Committee
- Director Elections
- Resolutions, including any bylaw amendments

4.9 Voting at General Meetings

- (a) Unless otherwise required by the Act, the Articles or the Bylaws, every question will be determined by ordinary resolution passed by the Members present and casting votes at the general meeting.
- (b) Where there is an equality of votes, the motion is lost.
- (c) Members shall vote
 - (i) by show of hands, using their voting cards; or
 - (ii) where at least three (3) Members so demand, by secret ballot.
- (d) If at least three (3) Members have demanded a secret ballot, the chair of the meeting will direct the manner in which the ballot voting will be conducted.
- (e) If all of the Members who demanded a secret ballot withdraw the demand before the secret ballot vote is conducted, the general meeting must comply with the withdrawal.
- (f) If a secret ballot vote is conducted, the result of the ballot is the decision of the general meeting on that question.
- (g) The chair of a general meeting is entitled to vote if they are a Member but is not entitled to a second vote in the event of a tie.

5. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

5.1 Number of Directors

The Board of Directors shall consist of nine (9) qualified members.

5.2 Qualifications of Directors

No individual is eligible to be elected to, or to remain on, the Board of Directors if that individual

- (a) is less than eighteen (18) years of age;
- (b) is of unsound mind and has been so found by a court in Saskatchewan or elsewhere;
- (c) has the status of bankrupt;
- (d) is the auditor or a trustee of the Co-operative, or is otherwise a member of a class of persons prescribed in the regulations under the Act;

(e) is not, or ceases to be, a Member.

5.3 Employees as Directors

(a) The total number of Directors who are also employees of the Co-operative shall not at any time be more than two (2).

5.4 **Joint Memberships and Director Positions**

Only one of the parties to a joint membership is entitled to be a Director at one time.

5.5 Election of Directors

- (a) The election of Directors shall take place annually at the annual general meeting.
- (b) When the number of nominees for a position as Director exceeds the number of Directors to be elected, the election must be by secret ballot.
- (c) When voting for Directors, a Member shall vote for the number of Directors to be elected and any ballot that is marked for more or fewer than the number to be elected is deemed to be void.

5.6 Directors' Term of Office

- (a) Except as provided in (b) and (c), the term for a Director shall expire at the close of the third annual general meeting following their election, and, in this section, that period of time is called a "full term."
- (b) The Members at an annual general meeting at which Director elections are to be held are entitled, by ordinary resolution passed before the Director elections, to provide for staggered terms of office that expire at the next annual general meeting or the second annual general meeting following a Director's election, and, in this section, that period of time, which is less than a full term, is called a "partial term."
- (c) When another Director ceases to hold office, the Director elected or appointed to fill the vacancy is elected or appointed to fill the remaining period of time in the full term or partial term of their predecessor and, in this section, that remaining period of time in the full term is called a "residual term."
- (d) Subject to (e), an individual whose full term, partial term, or residual term is expiring at an annual general meeting is eligible for re-election or re-appointment.
- (e) No individual is entitled to serve more than
 - (i) three (3) full terms, served consecutively,
 - (ii) or two (2) full terms and either one (1) partial term or one (1) residual term, served consecutively, as a Director without a break as described in (f).
- (f) An individual, having served the maximum number of consecutive terms described in (e) as a Director, is again eligible to be elected or appointed to the Board of Directors if that

- (i) meets the eligibility requirements in 5.2; and
- (ii) after having served the consecutive terms described in (e) as a Director, has remained off the Board for at least the period of time between their last annual general meeting as a Director and the next following annual general meeting.
- (g) A Director ceases to hold office when the Director
 - (i) resigns in writing;
 - (ii) has served the maximum number of consecutive terms described in (e);
 - (iii) is removed from office by the Members; or
 - (iv) is no longer qualified.

5.7 Removal of Directors from Office

The Members may remove a Director from office by a two-thirds (¾) majority of the votes cast at a general meeting.

5.8 Filling Vacancies on the Board

Where there is a vacancy on the Board and there remains a quorum of Directors, the remaining Directors may exercise all the powers of the Board or may appoint a Director to fill the vacancy until the next general meeting.

5.9 Powers of the Board

The Board shall direct and supervise the business and affairs of the Co-operative and may exercise, by resolution, all the powers of the Co-operative that are not required by the Act or the Bylaws to be exercised by the Members in a general meeting.

5.10 Calling Board Meetings

- (a) Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least once every three (3) months at the times and places that the Board from time to time determine.
- (b) The President may call a special meeting of the Board at any time upon any notice they deem to be appropriate.
- (c) The President must call a special meeting of the Board within fourteen (14) days after receiving a written request from a majority of the Directors then in office.

5.11 Notice of Board Meetings

(a) Directors shall receive at least seven (7) days written notice of every regular Board meeting by regular mail, hand delivery, email or some other electronic means.

- (b) A notice of a Board meeting need not specify the purpose or the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- (c) A Director may waive, in any manner, notice of a Board meeting.
- (d) For the purposes of (c), a Director's attendance at a Board meeting is deemed to be a waiver of notice of the meeting, unless the Director attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called.

5.12 Quorum at Board Meetings

- (a) The quorum necessary for the transaction of business at a Board meeting is five (5) directors.
- (b) If a Director is temporarily excused from a portion of a Board meeting due to a conflict of interest, quorum is deemed to be valid.
- (c) If a quorum is not present at the opening of a Board meeting, the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to a fixed time and place but may not transact any other business.
- (d) If a quorum is present at the opening of a Board meeting but does not continue to be present throughout the meeting, unless due to conflict of interest, the remaining Directors may not transact any business after the quorum ceases to exist.

5.13 Members' Rights to Speak at Board Meetings

Before a Board meeting, any Member may ask to speak to a specific issue at that meeting, by giving notice to the Executive Director prior to the Agenda being finalized, but the Member is not entitled to vote or to remain in attendance for any more than that portion of the meeting to which the Member has been invited.

5.14 Transaction of Business at Board Meetings

- (a) At regularly and legally constituted meetings of the Board or any committee of the Board, all questions shall be decided by a simple majority vote and, in the case of an equality of votes, the motion shall be lost.
- (b) The President or any presiding officer may vote on any resolution but shall not have a second or casting vote in the event of a tie.
- (c) Except as provided in (d), a resolution of the Board may be passed without a meeting
 - (i) where all the Directors consent in writing, including electronic consent to the resolution; and
 - (ii) the consent is filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Directors.
- (d) No resolution of the Board involving the expenditure of money may be passed without a meeting of the Board being held.
- (e) Where all the Directors consent, a meeting of Directors may be held by means of a

telephone system or a communications facility other than a telephone system that permits all persons participating in the meeting to hear and speak to each other, and a person so participating is deemed to be present at the meeting.

5.15 Directors' Re-organization Meeting

The Directors shall hold their first meeting within ten (10) days after the annual general meeting to, among other things, elect from among their number a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer.

5.16 Officers' Terms of Office and Vacancies

- (a) Subject to (b), each individual elected or appointed by the Board as an officer shall hold office until the conclusion of the next following annual general meeting, or until that individual's resignation, death, removal, or disqualification as a Director, whichever first occurs.
- (b) The Board, in its discretion, may remove any officer of the Co-operative and elect or appoint another individual to fill the unexpired portion of that individual's term.

5.17 Board and Officers' Duties

- (a) The President shall
 - (i) unless some other individual is appointed by the meeting to do so, preside at all general meetings of the Co-operative;
 - (ii) unless some other Director is appointed by the meeting to do so, preside at all meetings of the Board;
 - (iii) be ex-officio member of all committees other than the Executive Committee, in which case they are a full, voting member of the Committee;
 - (iv) perform all other duties and exercise all other powers incidental to the office of President or as may be required by the Board.
- (b) The Vice-President, in the absence of the President, shall discharge the duties of the President.
- (c) The Secretary shall
 - (i) keep or cause to be kept correct minutes of all Board meetings and general meetings;
 - (ii) perform other duties and exercise other powers incidental to the office of Secretary or as may be required by the Board.
- (d) The Treasurer shall
 - (i) serve as the chair of the Audit Committee;
 - (ii) keep, or cause to be kept, proper accounting records for the Co-operative;
 - (iii) report to the Board whenever required on all transactions as Treasurer and on the financial

position of the Co-operative;

- (iv) perform other duties and exercise other powers incidental to the office of Treasurer or as may be required by the Board.
- (e) The Board may appoint and delegate powers and duties to other officers, in addition to the President, Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer, as it deems necessary to properly conduct the affairs of the Co-operative.
- (f) The Board shall have the power to appoint, define the duties of and fix the remuneration of an Executive Director as the manager and such other employees as they deem necessary for the carrying on of the business of the Co-operative.

5.18 Committees

The Board may appoint such committees as they deem advisable to carry out such duties as the Board may assign except those which pertain to items which, under the Act, a committee of the board has no authority to exercise. Any committee of the board that is established will be guided by terms of reference and board policy documents as may be put in place by ordinary resolution of the board that include composition, meeting procedures, and reporting procedures.

The board shall have standing committees including:

- (a) Executive Committee,
- (b) Governance Committee, and
- (c) Finance and Audit Committee.

The board may create other committees including ad hoc committees as may be required from time to time.

5.19 Remuneration of Directors and Committees of Directors

- (a) Directors may be remunerated for their services in the performance of their duties and functions as Directors at rates that the Members set by ordinary resolution from time to time at the annual general meeting.
- (b) Directors shall be reimbursed for their expenses incurred by reason of the performance of their duties and functions as Directors at rates that the Board sets by resolution from time to time at its meetings.

5.20 Indemnification of Directors

The Co-operative shall indemnify the Directors to the full extent and in the manner permitted by the Act.

6. ADVISORYGROUPS

6.1 Composition

The Board, by resolution, may appoint, from among the Directors, Members, and non-Members,

any advisory group it considers necessary.

6.2 No Delegation

The Board may not delegate any of its powers to an advisory group.

6.3 Terms of Reference, Composition, and Procedures

The Board will establish the terms of reference, composition, meeting procedures, and reporting procedures for the advisory groups.

7. AUDITOR

7.1 Appointment of Auditor

The Members, by ordinary resolution at the annual general meeting, shall appoint an auditor to hold office until the close of the next annual general meeting.

7.2 Incumbent Auditor

Where an auditor is not appointed at an annual general meeting the incumbent auditor continues in office until the successor is appointed.

8. DISSOLUTION

8.1 Dissolution

On the dissolution of the Co-operative, any undistributed surplus, including reserves and all unencumbered assets and property, of the Co-operative shall be donated to one or more organizations established for the purpose of providing services for social welfare, health, civic improvement, education, or for other objects of a benevolent or charitable nature.

9. AMENDMENT OF THE BYLAWS

- 9.1 The Members, at any annual or special general meeting called for the purpose, may enact, amend, repeal or replace any Bylaw
 - (a) by a simple majority of the votes cast at the meeting where written notice of the proposed enactment, amendment, repeal, or replacement has been sent to the Members with the notice of the meeting at which it is to be considered; or
 - (b) by a two-thirds (¾) majority of the votes cast at the meeting where written notice of the proposed enactment, amendment, repeal, or replacement has not been sent to the Members with the notice of the meeting at which it is to be considered.